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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (U K ) (‘the
company’) and its subsidiaries (together ‘the group’), for the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009

1. Principal activities

The company 1s a holding company to a group that provides a wide range of financial services to clients located
worldwide The company primarily operates 1n a US Dollar environment as part of The Goldman Sachs Group,
Inc  Accordingly, the company’s funcuional currency 1s US Dollars and these financial statements have been
prepared i that currency

2. Review of business and future developments

During the period, the company changed wts accounting reference date to 31 December to be consistent with the
year end of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc which was changed to 31 December 2009  Accordingly, the
accounting reference period has been extended to 57 wecks ending 31 December 2009 and the financial
statements have been drawn up for the 57 week pened ended 31 December 2009 Comparative information has
been presented for the 52 week period ended 28 November 2008

The profit and loss account for the period 15 set out on page 8 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation tor the
group was US$5,368 million (52 week peniod ended 28 November 2008 US$7,271 mulhon) The group has
reported net assets of US$17,657 million (28 November 2008 US$13,767 million) and the company has reported
net assets of US$3,856 million (28 November 2008 US$3,864 mullion) Details of the group’s business segments
are given in note 4 to the financial statements During the period, the group donated US$93 mullion to charity

Investment Banking results primarily reflect the wmproved performance n the underwriting business, parucularly
equity underwrnting

Trading and Principal Investments reflect particularly strong results in Fixed Income, Currency and Commaoditics
(‘FICC") as well as Equines  The increase 1n FICC reflects particularly strong performances in ¢redit products
and interest rate products, reflecting strength n the client franchise  The increase in Equities reflects higher net
revenue n dernivatives and improved results from the client franchise  During the peniod, Equities operated 1n an
environment characterised by an increase in global equity prices, favourable market opportunities and a
significant decline 1n volatility levels

Assel Management and Securiues Services results reflecied the impact of lower assets under management
primarily due to market depreciation during the start of the period and lower customer balances mainly from
lower hedge fund ndustry assets and reduced leverage

Administrauve expenses increased to US$6,334 mullion for the period (52 week period ended 28 November
2008 US$1,125 million) mainly due to an increase 1n compensation costs including a charge ot US$1 8 bilhion
(52 week period ended 28 November 2008 credit of US$2 9 billion) relatng to the mark-to-market of equity-
based compensation awarded in prior peniods charged by The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc

Interest payable decreased to US$344 mullion tor the peniod (52 week period ended 28 November 2008 US$992
mulhion), mainly due to a decrease in subordinated debt from US$9,297 mulhion to US$5,496 mullien and decrease
n average interest rates

The group has a pension deficit of US$157 milhion as at 31 December 2009 (28 Novemnber 2008 surplus of
US$129 mulhion) Dunng the penod, the eftect of ughtening credit spreads on the discount factor as well as
gher expected future levels of mflation gave rise to the deficit a1 the period end Ot the expected contributions
for the pened to 31 December 2010, a one oft contribution of £142milhon (US$222 1oilhion) has been made to
the Plan following the pericd end (see note 10)




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

2.

Review of business and future developments (continued)

Business environment

The group’s financial performance 1s lighly dependent on the environment in which s businesses operate
Duning 2009, a number of major economies experienced a recession Business activity across a wide range of
industries and regions was greatly reduced, reflecting a reduction in consumer spending and low levels of
liquidity across credit markets In addition, unemployment continued to rise in 2009 However, economic
conditions became generally more favourable during the second half of the period as real gross domestic product
growth turned positive 1n most major cconomues and growth in emerging markets improved  [n addinon, global
equity and credit markets were characterised by increasing asset prices, lower volatulity and improved hquidity
during the last nine months of the period

Following the period end, the UK Government introduced, through the Finance Bill 2010, a one-off 1ax in respect
of certain bonuses payable by banks and banking groups At the balance sheet date, there were uncertainuies as 1o
the implementation and scope of the imtial proposals and 11 was not possible to conclude that the tax was virtually
certain to be ¢nacted as inttially drafted  The bank payroll tax will be recognised in the profit and loss account 1n
the year ended 31 December 2010 In addiion, refer to the post balance sheet events section (note 32 (1))

Following the period end, Goldman Sachs Internaunonal, a subsidiary undertaking, agreed to pav a financial
penalty of £175 mllion {US$26 9 million) to the Financial Services Authortty (FSA) in resolving an
nvestigation carried out by the FSA which commenced on 20 April 2010 The penalty will be recognised in the
profit and loss account of the group in the year ended 31 December 2010 In addition, refer to the post balance
sheet events section (note 32 (1))

Strategy

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc 1s a bank holding company and a financial holding company regulated by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board) It 1s also a leading global
investment banking, secunties and investment management firm that provides a wide-range of services
worldwide to a substantial and diversified client base that includes corporations, financial mstitutions,
governments and high-net-worth individuals

As part of this group, the company and its subsidiary undertakings seek to be the advisor ot choice tor their
chients and a leading participant in the global financial markets. The group’s strategy, consistent with that of The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, 15 to grow its three core businesses, Investment Banking, Trading and Principal
Investments, and Asset Management and Securities Services, 1n markets throughout the world

Principal risks and uncertainties

The group faces a varicty of nisks that are substantial and inherent 1n its businesses including economic and
market conditions, hiquudity, credit quality, operational infrastructure and technology nsks Consequently, the
group does not produce predictable carmings The key business risks affecting the group are set out below

Economic and market conditions

The group’s businesses are materially affected by conditions 1n the global financial markets and economic
conditons generally and these conditions may change suddenly and dramatically Unfavourable or uncertain
economic and market conditions have adversely aftected, and may n the future adversely aftect, our business and
profitabiluy




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Review of business and future developments (continued)
Liquidity

Liquidity 15 essential to the group’s businesses Liquidity could be impaired by an inabihity to access secured and
/ or unsecured debt markets, an nability to sell assets or redeem our mvestments or unforeseen outflows of cash
or collateral This situation may arise due to circumstances that the group may be unable to control, such as a
general market disruption or an operational problem that affects third parues or the group or even by the
perception amongst market participants that the group 1s experiencing greater hqudity risk Furthermore, the
ability to sell assets may be impaired (f other market participants are seeking 1o sell similar assets at the same
ume as 1s hikely to occur in a hquidity or other market crisis

In addition, financial institutions with which the group interacts may exercise set-off nghts or the right to require
additional collateral, including in difficult market condions, which could further impair the access to liquidity

Credit qualuty

The group 1s exposed to the risk that third parties that owe 11 money, securities or other assets, will not perform
their obligations These parties may default on their obligations due to bankruptcy, lack of hquidity, operational
failure or other reasons A failure of a significant market participant, or even concerns about a default by such an
institution, could lead to sigmficant liquidity problems, losses or defaulis by other institutions

The group 15 also subject to the nisk that its rights aganst third parties may not be enforceable 1n all
circumstances  In addition, deterioration 1n the credit quahty of third parties whese securities or obhigations are
held could result 1n losses and / or adversely aftect the ability to use those securities or obligations for hquidity
purposes  Although the group regularly reviews credit exposures to specific chients and counterpartics and to
specific industries, countries and regions that 1t believes may present credit concerns, default risk may arise from
evenlts or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee

Operational infrastructure

The group’s businesses are highly dependent on the ability to process and monitor, on a daily basss, a large
number of transactions, many of which are highly complex, across numerous and diverse markets in many
currencies These transactions, as well as information technology services provided to clients, often must adhere
1o chent-specific guidelines, as well as legal and regulatory standards  As the group’s chent base and
geographical reach cxpands, developing and mantaining operational systems and infrastructure becomes
increasingly challenging  Finanaal, accounting, data processing or other operating systems and facthties may
fail to operate properly or become disabled as a result of events that are wholly or partially beyond the group’s
control such as a spike in transaction volume, adversely attecting its ability to process these transactions The
mability ot systems 1o accommodate an increasing volume of transactions could also constrain the group’s ability
to expand businesses

The group also faces the nisk of operational fatlure or termination or capacity constraints of any of the clearing
agents, exchanges, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries that 1t uses to facilitate securities transactions
and, as interconnectivity with chents grows, the group will increasingly face the nisk of operational tailure with
respect 1o its clients’ systems  Any such failure or terminatton could adversely affect the group’s ability to effect
transactions, service 1ts clients and manage 11s exposure to risk

Despite the resihency plans and facilities that the group has in place, its ability to conduct business may be
adversely impacted by a disruption 1n the infrastructure that supports its businesses and the commun:ties in which
s located This may include a disruption involving clectrical, communications, transportatton or other services
uscd by the group or third parties with which 11 conducts business These disruptions may occur, for example, as
a result of events that affect only the builldings of the group or such third parties, or a5 a result of events with a
broader impact on the cities where those bulldings are located




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

2,

Review of business and future developments (continued)
Technology

Technology 15 fundamenial to the group’s business and industry The growth of electronic trading and the
introduction of new technologies 1s changing businesses and presenting new challenges  Securnues, futures and
opuions transactions are increasingly occurring electronically, both on the group’s own systems and through other
alternative trading systems and 1{ appears that the trend toward alternative trading systems will continue and
probably accelerate  Some of these alternative trading systems compete with the group’s trading businesses and
1t may experience continued competitive pressures 1n these and other areas In addition, the increased use by
chents of low-cost electronic trading systems and direct electronic access to trading markets could cause a
reduction 1n commussions and spreads As the group’s clients increasingly use its systems to irade directly in the
markets, 1t may tncur habilitics as a result of their use of us order routing and exccution infrastructure

Risk management

The group seeks to monitor and centrol s nisk exposure through a risk and contrel framework encompassing a
variety of separate, but complementary, financial, credit, operational, compliance and legal reporting systems,
mternal controls, management review process and other mechamisms The group’s trading rnisk management
process seeks to balance its ability to profit from trading positions with its exposure to potential losses  Whilst
the group employs a broad and diversified set of risk monitoring and risk mitigation techmques, those technigques
and the judgements that accompany their application cannot anuicipate every economic and financial outcome or
the specifics and tuming of such outcomes Thus, the group may, n the course of us activities, incur losses In
addition, refer to the financial risk management section (note 30)

Future outlook

The directors consider that the penod end financial posttiion of the company and the group was satisfactory No
significant change 1n the company and the group’s principal business activity 15 expected

Dividends

The directors of Goldman Sachs (UK) L. 1. C, the immediate parent undertaking, agreed to waive the receipt of a
preterence dividend from the company 1n respect of the period (52 week pertod ended 28 November 2008
USSNil} The directors do not recommend the payment of a final ordinary dividend 1 respect of the period (52
week period ended 28 November 2008 US$Nil)

Exchange rate

The US Dollar / Sterling exchange rate at the balance sheet date was £/ US$ 1 6154 (28 November 2008 £/ US$
I 5374) The average rate for the period was £/ US$ 1 5616 (52 week peniod ended 28 November 2008 £/ US$
| 8926)

Employment of disabled persons

Applications for employment by disabled persons are fully and fairly considered having regard to the aptuitudes
and abilities of cach applicant Efforts are made to enable any employees who become disabled during
cmployment to continue their carcers within The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc Traming, career development and
promotion of disabled persons are to the extent possible, identical 1o that of other employees who are not
cisabled




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

6.

10.

1L

Employee involvement
It 1s group policy that there should be effecuve communication with all employees who, subject to practical and

commercial considerations, should be consulted on and involved n decisions that affect theiwr current jobs or
tuture prospects Employees share in performance-based incentive schemes

Directors

The directors of the company during the pertod, and as at the date of this report, together with dates of
appointment or resignation where apphcable, were -

Name Appointed Resigned

A S Nak

M A Allen

D W McDonogh 13 February 2009

S Davies 15 January 2009

No director has, or had during the period, any 1nterest requiring note herein

Financial risk management

The group’s risk management objectives and policies, as well as exposures to market risk, credit risk and
liquidity nsk are described 1n note 30 1o the financial statements

Disclosure of information to auditors

In the case of each ot the persons who are directors of the company at the date when this report was approved

¢ 5o far as cach of the directors 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audit information of which the company’s
auditors are unaware, and

+ each of the directors has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself awarc of
any relevant audit informauon and to establish that the company’s auditors arc aware of that information

Auditors

Prior to | October 2007, the company passed an elective resolution under section 386 of the Companies Act 1985
to dispense with the annual reappointment of auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will, accordingly, continue
in office as auditors ol the company pursuant to section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006 and paragraph 44 of
Schedule 3 to the Compantes Act 2006 (Commencement No 3 Consequental Amendment, Transiional
Provisions and Savings) Order 2007

Chanritable contributions

During the period, an amount of U$$92,583,387 (52 week period ended 28 November 2008 US$3,259,674) was
donated to charity




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

12.

13.

Directors’ responsibilities

Umited Kingdom company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial penod which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the group as at the end of the financial peniod and of
the profit or loss of the company and the group for that period In prepanng those accounts, the directors are
required to

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

» make Judgements and eshimates that are reasonable and prudent,

¢ state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject to any matenal departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements, and

* prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inappropniate to presume that the company and the
group will continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasenable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and the group and to enable them 10 ensure that the accounts

comply with the Compames Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and
the group and, hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other wrregulanties

Date of authorisation of issue

The financial statements were authorised for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2010

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

D.J GROUNSELL
Secretary




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

We have audited the group and the company financial statements of Goldman Sachs Group Holdings (UK ) for the
Error! Unknown document property name. week period ended Error! Unknown document property name. which
compnse the group profit and loss account, the reconciliation of movements 1n total shareholder’s funds, the statement of
total recogmsed gains and losses, the group and the company balance sheets and the related notes  The financial reporting
framework that has been applied 1n their preparation 1s apphcable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
{United Kingdom Generalty Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the directors’ report the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for beng satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial staternents in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auding (UK and Ireland} Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinons, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body 1n accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving these opimions,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose
hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 1n writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error
This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropniate 10 the company's circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financia! statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

s give a true and fair view of the state of the group and the company’s affairs as at Error! Unknown document
property name. and of the group’s profit for the period then ended,

e have been properly prepared 1n accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act 2006
Opnion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given 1n the directors’ regort for the financial period for which the financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you

if, 1n our opinion

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us, or

s the financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
o certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by taw are not made, or

¢ we have not recerved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Christopher Rowland (Semor Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCocopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London 25 Sa\:ﬁ:émjoaf 71510




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009

57 week period 52 week period
Note ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$’000 US$°000
Trading profit 5 11,988,661 9,171,270
Administrative expenses (6,334,230) (1,125,027)
OPERATING PROFIT 6 5,654,431 8,046,243
Gain on sale of subsidiary undertaking 16¢a(n)) 45,756 -
Share of loss of associate undertaking 16(b}) (1,149) (1,690
Other interest recetvable and similar income 7 8.464 215,090
Interest payable and simular charges 8 (344,217) (991,639)
Net finance income 10 4,841 3,217
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
BEFORE TAXATION 5,368,126 7,271,221
Tax on profit on erdinary actuvities 12 (1,269,576) (1,895,528)
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
AFTER TAXATION AND FOR THE PERIOD 28 4,098,550 5,375,693

The trading profit and operating profit of the group 1s derived trom continuing operations in the current and prior period

The notes on pages 11 to 52 form part of these financial statements
Independem Auditors’ report - page 7




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDER’S FUNDS

for the 57 week period ended 3] _December 2009

The Group
57 week penod 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$000 US$’000
Profit on ordinary activiuies after taxation for the period 4,098,550 5,375,693
Exchange gain/(loss) on consolidation 8,008 (144,361
Actuarial (loss)/gain relating to the pension scheme (300,452) 153,868
UK deferred 1ax attributable to the actuanal (loss)/gain 84,127 (43,083)
Share-based payments (see note t1) 742,564 509,151
Management recharge related to share-based payments (742,564) (509,151)
Share capual 1ssued - 58
Caputal contribution - 60,286
Share premium 1ssued - 27,622
Net increase in shareholder’'s funds 3,890,233 5,430,083
Opening sharcholder’s funds 13,766,678 8,336,595
Closing shareholder’s funds 17,656,911 13,766,678
STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
for the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009
The Group
57 week period 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
Us$’000 Us$’000
Profit on ordinary activities atter taxation for the period 4,098,550 5,375,693
Actuanal (loss)/gaun relating to the pension scheme (300,452) 153,868
UK deferred tax attnibutable (o the actvanal (loss)/gain 84,127 (43,083)
Exchange gain/(loss) on consohidation 8,008 (144,361)
Total recogmsed gains for the financial period 3,890,233 5,342,117

The notes on pages 11 to 52 form part of these financial staiements
Independent Audutors’ report ~ page 7

_9-




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assels

Tangible fixed assets

Investments

Shares in subsidiary undertakings
Shares 1n associate investments
Other investments other than loans

CURRENT ASSETS

Trading inventory

Trading inventory pledged as collateral
Secunties purchased under agreements to resell
Debtors

Cash at bank and n hand

CREDITORS. AMOUNTS FALLING
DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Trading mventory sold but not yet purchased
Secunties sold under agreements to repurchase
Other creditors

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

CREDITORS. AMOUNTS FALLING
DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND
CHARGES

NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION
(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS

Pension (deficit) / surplus
NET ASSETS INCLUDING PENSION
(DEFICIT)/ SURPLUS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Called up share capital

Caputal contnbution

Share premium account

Merger reserve

Caputal redemption reserve

Profit and loss account

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER®S FUNDS

BALANCE SHEETS
as at 31 December 2009

Note

14
15

16(a)
16(b)
16(c)

18
19
20

21
22

23

25

10

27
28
28
28
28
28

The Group

The Company

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2010

and were signed on 1ts behalf by

The notes on pages 11 to 52 form part of these financial statements Independent Auditors’ report — page 7

Company number 3769030

31 December 28 November 31 December 28 November
2009 2008 2009 2008
US$’000 US$000 US$°000 US$’000
3,079 258 - -
7,649 13,752 - -
- - 6,509,861 6,264,716
- 5,380 - 14,607
5,932 8,154 11,656 6,771
16,660 27,544 6,521,517 6,286,094
500,575,670 1,084,283,438 -
18,547,582 7,512,483 -
113,687,284 94,079,981 - -
113,871,917 176,310,853 16,405,731 12,864,529
13,857,358 18,436,474 - -
760,539,811 1,380,623,229 16,405,731 12,864,529
(446,077,907) (1,044,937,288) - -
{65,670,960) (65,104,551 - -
(219,426,354) (243,934,063)  (13,993,651) (6,859,097)
(731,175,221)  (1,353,975,902)  (13,993,651) (6,859,097
29,364,590 26,647,327 2,412,080 6,005,432
29,381,250 26,674,871 8,933,597 12,291,526
(11,527,161 (12,997,335) (5,078,000) (8,428,000)
{40,000) (40,000) - R
17,814,089 13,637,536 3,855,597 3,863,526
(157,178) 120,142 - -
17,656,911 13,766,678 3,855,597 3,863,526
22,473 22,473 22,473 22,473
67,187 67,187 67,187 67,187
1,547,032 1,547,032 1,547,032 1,547,032
1,021,395 1,021,395 1,021,395 1,021,395
305,012 305,012 - -
14,693,812 10,803,579 1,197,510 1,205,439
17,656,911 13,766,678 3,855,597 3,863,526
yigr e~  Direclor
Mmacie A At—énd

- 10 -




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Accounting convention: The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,

(modified as explained 1n notes 1(f(m)), 1(g) and I1(h)), the accounung policies set out below, and 1n
accordance with applicable United Kingdom Law, applicable Umited Kingdom accounting standards and
pronouncements of the Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF)

{b) Conselidation: The consohdated financial statements include the company and all of its subsidiaries since

(e

their date of acquisition In accounting for subsidiaries the group consehidates fully their assets, habilities and
results for the period and shows separately the interest of minoruty shareholders therein  All inter-company
balances and transactions ar¢ eltminated from the consolidated accounts Acquisihion accounting 1s used (o
consolidate new subsidianies

Foreign currencies: Transactions denominated 1n foreign currencies are translated nto US Dollars at rates
of exchange ruling on the date the transaction occurred Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 1n
foretgn currencies are translated into US Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date Gains
and losses on exchange are recognised 1n operating profit The results of subsidiaries with non US Dollar
functional currencies are translated at the average rates of exchange during the period and their balance
sheets at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date Exchange differences arising from the retranslation of the
opemng net assets and results are reported 1n the statement of total recognised gains and losses

(d) Goodwill: Where the fair value of the separable net assets exceeds the fair value of the consideration for an

(e)

(0

acquired undertaking the difference 1s treated as negative goodwill Where the tair value of the separable net
assets 1s less than the far value of the consideration for an acquired undertaking the ditference 1s treated as
positive goodwill Positive goodwill 15 capitalised and amortised through the profit and loss account on a
straight hine basis Negative goodwill 1s capntalised and recognised in the profit and loss account 1n the
periods tn which the non monetary assets are recovered

Tangible fixed assets: Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision
for any impairment Depreciation 1s provided on a straight-hine basis over the eshmated useful lives at the
following annual rates

%
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 14-33
Motor vehicles 20

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the useful cconomic hife ot the asset or the
remaining life of the lease when the asset 1s brought 1nto use

Fixed asset investments:

(1)  Shares in subsihary undertakings, which are iniended to be held on a continuing basts in the company’s
activities, are stated at cost less provision for any impairment

(n) Shares in associale investments are accounted for by the equuy method for the group, and are held at
historical cost for the company

(i) Other investments other than loans are stated at amortised cost less provision for any impairment except
for equity investments in the group accounts which are stated at fair value

11 -




GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimuted company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Financaal instruments held for trading: Trading inventory and trading inventory sold, but not yet
purchased consists of financial instruments carried at fair value or amounts that approximate fair value
Financiat assets and liabihties within the trading portfolio have been classified as held for trading and are
carried at fair value with realised and unrealised gains and losses as well as associated interest and dividend
income and expense included in trading profit  Trading inventory pledged as collateral represents financial
mstruments owned and pledged to counterparties that have the right to deliver or repiedge

The fair value of a financial instrument 1s the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 10 a current
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, other than 1n a forced or quidation sale  In determining
farr value, the group separates financial instruments into two categories cash (1e non-denivative) trading
instrumenis and derivauve contracts The fair values of cash trading instruments are gencrally obtained from
quoted market prices 1n active markets, broker or dealer price quotations or alternative pricing sources with a
reasonable level of price transparency The types of instruments valued in this manner include sovereign
government obligations, mvestment-grade and high-yield corporate bonds, hsted equities and money market
securttics

However, certain cash trading nstruments trade infrequently and, therefore, have little or no price
transparency Where the group 1s unable to substantiate the sigmficant valuation inputs and assumptions to
correborate market data, the transaction price 1s used as management’s best estimate tor fair value at
inception  Accordingly, when a pricing model 15 used 10 value such an investment, the model 15 adjusted so
that the model value at inception equals the transaction price  Subsequent to inception, management only
changes model mnputs and assumptions when corroborated by evidence such as transactions 1n similar
instruments, completed or pending third-party transactions n the underlying investment of comparable
entities, subsequent rounds of financing, recapitalisations and other transactions across the capital structure,
offerings n the equuty or debt capatal markets, and changes in financial rattos or cash flows

Cash trading instruments owned by the group (long positions) are marked to tid prices and instruments sold,
but not yet purchased (short positions) are marked to offer prices The group does not adjust an active market
quoted price for such nstruments, even 1n situations where the group holds a large position and a sale could
reasonably impact the quoted price For instruments not quoted 1n an acuve market, :f hquidating a position
15 reasonably expected to affect us prevailing market price, the valvanon 1s adjusted generally based on
market evidence or predetermined policies  In certain circumstances, such as for highly ilhiquid positions,
management’s estimates are used to determine this adjustment

The group’s dertvative contracts consist of exchange-traded and over-the-counter (‘OTC'") derivatives The
farr values of the group’s exchange-traded derivatives are generally determuned from quoted market prices
OTC denvatives are valued using valuation models  The group uses a variety of valuatton models including
the present value of known or estimated cash flows and eption pricing models The valuation models used to
derive the tair values of the group’s OTC derivatives require mputs ncluding contractual terms, market
prices, yield curves, credit curves, measures ol volatility, prepayment rates and correlatons of such inputs
The selecuon ot a model to value an OTC denvauve depends upon the contractual terms of, and specific risks
inherent 1n, the instrument as well as the availlability of pricing information in the market The group
generally uses similar models to value similar instruments Where possible, the group venfies the values
produced by its pricing models to market transactions

For OTC denvauves that trade 1n hiquid markets, such as genenc torwards, swaps and options, model inputs
can generally be venfied and model selection does not involve sigmficant management judgement For OTC
denivatives that trade n less liquid markets with imited pricing information, the determination of fair value 1s
inherently more difficult  Further, complex structures often mmvolve muluple product types, requiring
additonal complex nputs such as correlations and volanhiues At the incepuion of an OTC denvauve
contract, the group values the contract at the model value 1f the group can venfy all of the significant model
inputs to observable market data and verify the model to market transacuions  When appropriate, valuations
are adjusted to reflect vanous factors such as hquidity, nd / offer spreads and credit considerations
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

I

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial instruments held for trading (continued):

These adjustmenis are generally based on market evidence or predetermined policies In certain
circumstances, such as for highly 1lliguid positions, management’s estumates are used to determine these
adjustments Where the group does not have corroboraung market evidence to support significant model
nputs and cannot verify the model to market transactions, management believes that transaction price 1s the
best estimate of fair value at inception  Accordingly, when a pricing model 15 used to value such an
instrument, the model 1s adjusted so that the mode! value at inception equals the transaction price

‘Day 1 P&L" 15 the term used to describe the difference between the imtial transaction price and the fair value
calculated by mternal models Day | P&L 1s released to profit and loss at the earlier ot the tair value
becoming observable using market parameters, or through reterence to similar quoted products, and
derecognition of the financial instruments

The gamns or losses resulting from the application ot this policy are taken to the profit and loss account  As
the trading tnventory represents the trading portfoho of the group, the directors are of the opinion that 1t
would not be appropnate to classify it as current asset investments or to provide an analysis of such securities
between those hsted and unhsted

(h) Repurchase and resale agreements and stock borrowing and lending Securities purchased under

0]

W

agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements to repurchase are recognised on a trade date basis,
treated as collaterahised financing transactions and are carned at tair value Where the collateral 1s 1n the
torm of cash the transaction 1s recorded on trade date withun securities sold under agreements to repurchase
or within secunties purchased under agreements to resell 1t the collateral 1s in the form of securities the
transacuon 1s recorded within securities sold under agreements to repurchase or within securities purchased
under agrecments 1o resell when the collateral 1s subsequently sold

Leases: Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership 1o the lessee  All other leases are classified as operating leases

(1) For finance leases the group acts as the lessor of an asset Assets leased 1o counterparties under
finance leases are derecognised at the inception of the leasc Debtors under finance leases are included
within ‘other debtors’ and represent outstanding amounts due under the agreements less finance
charges allocated to future perieds Finance lease income 15 recogmised in other interest receivable and
similar 1income over the period of the lease so as o give a constant rate of return on the net investment
in the leases

(1) For operating leases the group acts as the lessee Leased assets are not recognised on the balance sheet
Costs 1n respect of operating leases, including any incentives granted by the lessor, are charged on a
straight-line basis over the lease term and included within ‘admimistrative expenses’ i the
consohdated mcome statement

Money broker deposits: Deposits with money brokers and deposits received from money brokers are
carried at the amounts of cash collateral advanced and received in connection with the transactions  The
group measures the market value of the securitics berrowed and loaned against the collateral on a daily basis
and obtains or provides additional collateral as appropriate

(k) Non-trading financial instruments: Non-trading financial nstruments primanly compnise of long term

subordinated debt and loan notes and are imuially recorded at fair value Finance costs, including discounts
allowed on 1ssue, are recogmsed on an accruals basis  All finance costs are charged to the profit and loss
account
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

1.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

L)

Offsetting financial instruments: Financial assets and habilites are offset and the net amount presented 1n
the balance sheet where the group

(1) currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and
{11) 1ntends to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the hability sumultaneously

Where the conditions are not met, financial assets and habilities are presented on a gross basis in the balance
sheet

{m} Trading profits: The operating results for the peniod include all profits and losses arising from the trading

operations of the group Trading operations include a number ot activities including the purchase and sale of
securities, dertvatives and commodities, which are accounted for on a trade date basis  Trading operanons
also include fees earned 1n relation to managing investments, which are recogmised n the profit and loss on
an accruals basis to match continuing services Revenues ansing on loan onigination and secondary dealing
in sentor bank loans are accounted for on a trade date basis Corporate finance and advisory fee income 1s
recognised when the relevant paruies are contractually bound and as contract acuvity progresses unless the
right to consideration does not anise untill occurrence of a critical event, in which case revenue 15 not
recogrused untl that event occurs Management fees are recogmsed over the period that the related service
ts provided based upon average net asset values In certain circumstances, the group 1s also enttled to
receive asset management incentive fees based on a percentage of a fund’s return or when the return on
assels under management exceeds specified benchmark returns or other performance targets Incentive fees
are generally based on investment performance over a [2-month period and are subject to adjustment prior
1o the end of the measurement period

(n) Income recogmtien: Intercst income and interest expense on non-trading financial instruments are

(o)

(p)

recognised on an accruals basis  Dividend income trom fixed asset investments 1s included in the profit and
loss account when received

Deferred taxation: Full provision 1s made for deterred taxation in respect of all differences in uming
between the accounting and tax treatments ot income and expenses The uming differences are recognised as
deferred tax habiliies or assets, measured at the average tax rates that are expected o apply 1n periods n
which the urmng differcnces are expected to reverse, based on rates and laws that have been cnacted or
substanually enacted by the balance sheet date  An asset is not recognised 1t the transfer of economic
benefits in the fulure 1s uncertain  Deferred tax assets and habilities are not discounted

Share-based payments: The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc 1ssues awards 1n the form of restricted stock units
{*"RSUs") and stock options to the group’s employees for services rendered to the group The cost of equity
based transactions with employees 1s measured based on the fair value of the equity mstruments at the grant
date Non-market based vesting conditions are not taken into account in measuning the fair value of awards,
but are reflected by adjusting over ume the number of equity awards that are expected 1o vest  Share-based
awards that do not contain vesting conditions are expensed immediately Share-based employee awards that
require tuture service are amortised over the relevant service period

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc scitles equity awards through the delivery of ordinary shares wn The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc pays cash dividend equivalents on outstanding
restricted stock umits The group has also entered mio a chargeback agreement with The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc under which it 1s commutted to pay the market value at grant date of those awards to the group at
the time of delivery to its employees
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q) Pension cost: The group participates in both a hybrid pension plan and defined contribution plans for the

benefit of certain employees The defined benefit and defined contributons sections of the plans are
accounted for as follows

(1) For the defined benefit section, the amounts charged to operating profit are the current service costs,
any past service costs and any gamns or losses on settlements and curtailments  They are included as
part of staff costs The interest cost and expected return on assets are shown as a nct amount withn net
finance income  Actuvanal gamns and losses are recognised immediately n the statement of total
recognmsed gains and losses

The defined benefit section 1s funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the
group, 1n separate trustee-admimstered funds Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and
liabiliies are measured on an actuanal basis using the projecied umt method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-quahty corporate bond of equivalent currency and term
to the scheme habihies  Full actuarial valuations are obtamned at least trienmally and updated at each
balance sheet date The resulting defined benefit asset or liabiiity 1s presented separately atter net assets
on the face of the balance sheet

(1) For the defined contribution section and plans, the amount charged to the profit and loss account 1n
respect of pension costs are the contributions payable for the period  Differences between contnibutions
payable for the period and contnibutions actually paid are shown as enther accruals or prepayments n
the balance sheet

(r) Short-term employee benefits: Short-term employee benefits such as wages and salaries are measured on an

(s)

undiscounted basis and accrued as an expense over the period in which the cmployee 1enders the service to
the group Provision 1s made for discretionary period end compensation, whether to be pard in cash or vested
shares, where as a result ot group policy and past pracuce a constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet
date

Provisions and contingent habilities: Provisions are recognised n the financial statements only when it 1s
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a current legal or constructive
obligation, which has arnsen as a result of past events, and for which a rehable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation  Legal obligations that may anse as a result of proposed new laws are recognised as
obligations only when the legislation 15 virtually certain 10 be enacted as dratied

Contingent habilines are

(13 possible obhgations that arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events outside the control of the group,
or

(n) present obhgations that have ansen from past events but which are not recogmsed because erther an
outflow of economic benefits 15 not probable or the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably
measured

Contingent habilities are not recognised 1n the tinancial statements, but are disclosed unless the probability
of settlement 1s remote
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, and s therefore exempt from
preparing a cash flow statement as required by FRS1 *Cash flow statements’ as the ulumate parent undertaking’s
consolidated accounts are publicly available

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The group has amended 1ts accounting policy so that repurchase and resale agreements are accounted for and
measured at fair value under FRS26 (IAS39), ‘Financial Instruments Measurement’, rather than on an accruals
basis as the directors behieve this more appropriately reflects the impact of these transactions and 1s consistent
with how this activity 1s managed There was no matenal impact on the current period or comparative results
following the revision of this accounting policy

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The group’s trading profit 1s categonsed into the lollowing three principal segments Investment Banking,
Trading and Principal Investments and Asset Management and Securities Services

57 week period 52 week period

ended ended

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

US$ 000 US$’000

Investment Banking 1,236,706 988,454
Trading and Principal [nvestments 9,738,687 6,456,315
Asset Management and Securities Services 1,013,268 1,726,501
11,988,661 9,171,270

Investment Banking
The group’s investment banking activities are divided 1nto two categories

e Fumancial Advisory — Financial Advisory includes advisory assignments with respect to mergers and
acquisiions, divestitures, corporate detence activities, restructuring and spin offs, and

o Underwriting - Underwnting includes public offerings and private placements of a wide range of
securities and other financial instruments

Trading and Principal Investments
Trading and Principal Investments 1s divided 1ato three categornies

o Fuxed Income, Currencies and Commodities — The group makes markels 1n and trades 1nterest rate and
credit products, morigage-related securities and loans, including asset-backed secunities, currencies and
commodities, structures and enters 1nto a wide vanety of derivauve lransactions and engages 1n
proprictary trading and investing,

e Equuties — The group makes markets 1n and trades equities and equity-related products, structures and
enters 1nto equity derivative transactions, and engages i proprietary trading  The group also execuitcs
and clears customer transactions on major stock, options and futures exchanges worldwide, and

¢ Prumcipal Investments — Principal Investments prnimarily represenis fees from group compames for
sourcing and associated work with regard to the group’s merchant banking investments

Trading and Principal Investments also includes variable costs such as brokerage, clearance and underwnting
expenses thal are offset against trading profit
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

4.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)

Asset Management and Securities Services
The Asset Management and Securities Services segment includes services related to the following

*  Asset Management — Asset Management provides investment advisory and financial planning services to
a diverse group of institutions and individuals worldwade and primanly generates revenues n the form
of management and incentive tees, and

e Securues Services — Securiies Services provides prime brokerage, financing services and sccurities
lending services to institutional chents, including hedge funds, mutual funds, pension funds, and
foundations and to hgh-net-worth individuals worldwide, and generates revenues primarily 1n the form
of interest rate spreads or fecs

Geographical Analysis

Due to the highly integrated nature of international financial markets, the directors consider that the group
operates 1n a single global market As a result, no disclosure of segmental information relating to the
geographical onigin of results has been provided

TRADING PROFIT

Trading profit has been disclosed instead of turnover as this reflects more meanmngfully the nature and results ot
the group’s activities Trading profit, after charging related expenses, includes the net profit ansing from
transactions 1n securities, foreign exchange and other financial imstruments, and fees and commissions carned
Related expenses include trading interest payable less trading interest and dividends receivable During the
period, the group ceased o exercise dominant influence over certain subsidiaries which had been funded through
third party non-recourse financing Included within trading profit 1s a gain of US$294 5 million (net of exchange
loss of US$48 7 million) arising on deconsolidauon of these subsidiaries The gamn primarily represents the
reversal of losses that were disclosed within trading profit in prior periods These losses were 1n excess of
amounts financed by the group and were borne by the non-recourse finance provider

OPERATING PROFIT
The Group
57 week period 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$’000 US$’000
Operating profit is stated after charging / (credating).
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (see note 15) 5,291 5,633
Fees payabie to the company’s auditors for the audit of the 189 229
company’s annual accounts
Fees payable to the company’s auditor and 1ts associates tor
other services
Audit of the company’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 4 387 4,547
Other services pursuant to legislation provided by auditors 1,503 1,821
Management fees charged by group undertakings 498,386 529358
Amorusation of goodwill including goodwill on associate
investments 4387 3,612
Trading interest payable - group undertakings 2,298,223 3,553,050
- other 2,967,356 10,331,495
Operating lcase rentals - land and bwldings 103,625 111,001
Muanagement fees charged to group undertakings (46,562} (219,262)
Trading interest receivable - group undertakings (1,391,129) (5,159,266)
- other (3 890,965) (9,672,955)
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

OTHER INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

The Group
57 week period 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$°000 US$000
Interest on overnight deposits 28 380
Interest on loans to parent and group undertakings 1,614 1,229
Interest on loans to banks and customers 3,033 12,272
Other interest receivable 3,789 201,209
8,464 215,090
INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES
The Group
57 week period 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$000 US$°000
Interest on loans from parent and group undertakings 338917 785,984
Interest on deposits trom banks and customers 1.977 2,254
Other nterest payable 3,323 203,401
344,217 991,639
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The Group
57 week period 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$000 US$’000
Aggregate emoluments 52 17
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes - 1
52 18

In accordance with the Compames Act 2006, directors’ emoluments above represent the proportion of total
emoluments paid or payable n respect of qualifying services only Directors also recelve emoluments for non-
qualifying services which are not required to be disclosed All directors are members of the defined contribution
pension scheme and defined benefit pension scheme

All directors have been granted shares 1n respect of a long term incentive scheme

No directors have exercised options
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
(unlimited company)

10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

STAFF COSTS

The average number of employees of the group, including directors, 1s analysed below

57 week period 52 week period

ended ended

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

Number Number

Investment Banking 568 782
Trading and Principal Investments 1,417 1,645
Asset Management and Secunities Services 502 581
Support Functions 2,525 2,907
5,012 5,915

The group’s average number of employees 15 categonsed into the three principal segments, per note 4, and
Support Funcuons  Accordingly, the comparauives have been revised to be consisient with the curremt penod
presentation

The group has the use of a number of individuals whe are employed by fellow group undertakings and seconded
to the group These seconded individuals are included in the disclosure of headcount and related statf costs

In addition to the above, an average number of 526 (52 week period ended 28 November 2008 606) consultants
and temporary staff are inctuded 1n the group’s headcount, the costs of whom are included n the staff costs,

below

The employment costs incurred by the group, including those relating to directors. were

57 week period 52 week period

ended ended

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

US$’000 US$’000

Aggregate gross wages and salaries ' 4 862,140 94,908

Employer’s National Insurance Contributions * 510,506 66,548
Pension costs, employer contrtbutions to the

Defined contribution scheme 39,873 50,921

Defined benefit scheme 54,337 76,242

Total direct costs of employment ~ 5,466,856 288,619

* Staft costs include a charge of US$1 8 illion (52 week period ended 28 November 2008 credu of USS$2 9
billion) relating to the mark-to-market of equity-based compensation
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GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP HOLDINGS (U.K.)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

STAFF COSTS (CONTINUED)

Pension schemes

The group sponsors an open pension plan with a hybrid structure (‘the Plan’), having both defined benefit and
defined contribution sections From 1 March 2008, the Plan was closed to employeces whose employment
commenced after this date

A full actuanal valuation of the Plan was carried out by a quahfied independent actuary as at 1 December 2006
(which 15 currently being updated to | December 2009) using the projected umit funding method and updated to
31 December 2009 The asset and habidity figures shown below have been calculated as a proportion of the total
Plan assets and Labihines, based on the group’s proportion of the active membership as advised at the start and
end of the period

The major financial assumptions used by the actuary underlying the funding of the Plan which had the most
significant etfect on the pension cost are set out below

57 week period 52 week period

ended ended

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

% per annum % per annum

Discount rate 565 720

Rate of increase n salaries 4 060 4 00
Rate of increase in pensions

(posi-30 November 1956 accrual) 350 345

Rate of price inflation 390 345

The mortality assumptions were set based on the ‘00° series base table projected to 2006 with an allowance
known as ‘medium cohort’ made for future improvements 1n longevity The future improvement from 2006 1s
subject 1o a mimimum level of 1% per annum

The assets in the Plan attributable to the group and the expected rates of return were:

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

Expected rate Market FExpected rate Market

of return value of return value

% p.a. US$m % p.a. US$m
Equities 84 4932 84 147 9
Bonds 49 126 2 48 275
Hedge funds - - 70 257
Cash and reinvested cash 46 1255 48 3230
Total market value of assets 744.9 524.1
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10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

STAFF COSTS (CONTINUED)

Development of the balance sheet

31 December 28 November 30 November 24 November

25 November

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
US$m USSm US$m USSm USSm
Market value of Plan
assets 744 9 524 1 590 3 4301 3156
Actuartal value of Plan
habhties 902 1 3950 098 5 5476 3733
(Deficit} / surplus in the
Plan and pension
(liability) / asset
recognised in the balance
sheet before deferred
taxation (157.2) 129.1 (108.2) (117.5) (37.7)
The defined benefit cost was formed of the following components:
57 week period 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$m US$m
Analysis of amounts charged to operating profit:
Current service cost 425 825
Total charged to operating profit 42.5 825
Analysis of the amount credited to net finance
income:
Interest on Plan habihues 311 382
Expected return on assets 1n the Plan (359) 41 4)
Total credited to net finance income (4.8) (3.2)
Total charged to profit and loss before tax 37.7 79.3
Analysis of amounts recogmsed in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses:
(Gain) / loss on assels (107 0) 1158
Experience gain on habilines (17 2) {15 9)
Loss / {gain) in assumptions
(financial and demaographic) 424 7 (253 8)
Total loss / (gain) recogmsed in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses before tax 300.5 (153.9)
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10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

STAFF COSTS (CONTINUED)

History of experience gains and losses are as follows:

31 December 28 November 30 November 24 November 25 November
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
{Gain) / loss on Plan
assets:
Amount (US$m) (107 0) 1158 (66 8) {47 5) (22 9)
% of Plan assets at end of
the pertod 14 4% 22 1% 11 3% 11 0% 7 3%
Experience {(gain) / loss
on Plan liabilities:
Amount (US$m) (17 2) (159) 387 304 ©9
% of Plan habiliues at end
of the perod 1 9% 4 0% 55% 5 6% 2 7%
Total actuarial loss /
{gain) recognised in
statement of total
recognised gains and
losses:
Amount {US$m) 3005 (153 9) (46 5) 123 152
% of Plan liabihties at end
of the period 333% 39 0% 6 7% 2 3% 4 1%
Analysis of the movement in Plan assets during the period
57 week pernod 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$m US$m
Plan assets at the start of the period 5241 5903
Expected rewurn on Plan assets 359 414
Gain / (loss) on assels 107 0 (115 8)
Contributions paid — Employer 550 164 9
Benefits paiwd (102) (7 6)
Forcign exchange gains / (losses) on translation of
Plan assets 331 (149 1)
Plan assets at the end of the period 744.9 524.1

Analysis of the movement in Plan liabilities during the period

57 week period 52 week period

- ended ended

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

US$m US$m

Plan lrablisies at the start of the period 3950 698 5
Current service cost 425 825
Interest on Plan habilities 31 382
Loss / (gain) on change 1n assumptions 424 7 {253 8)
Experience gain (17 2) (159
Benefits paid (10 2) (7 6)

Foreign exchange losses / (gains) on transiation of

Plan habihties 362 (1469
Plan habilities at the end of the perod 902.1 395.0
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10.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

STAFF COSTS (CONTINUED)

Analysis of the movement in surplus / (deficit) in the Plan during the period

57 week period 52 week period
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$m US$m
Surplus / (deficit) in the Plan at the start of the peniod 1291 (108 2)
Contributions paid — Employer 550 164 9
Current service cost (42 5) (825)
Net finance income 48 32
Actuanal (loss)/ gain (300 5) 1539
Foreign exchange losses on translation of surplus /
{deficit) 31 (22)
{Deficit) / surplus in the Plan at the end of the
period (157.2) 129.1
Additional disclosures:
57 week period 52 week peniod
ended ended
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$m US$m
Expected future benefit payments for the penod to
31 December 2010 / 31 December 2009 103 63
Expected contnbutions tor the penod to
31 December 2010 /31 December 2009* — Employer 277 4 58 6
Actual return on Plan assets during the period
ended 31 December 2009 / 28 November 2008
Expected return on Plan assets 59 414
Asset gan / (loss) dunng the period 107 O (1158)
Actual return on Plan assets 142.9 {(74.4)

Cumulative amounts recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses since the adoption of

FRS17 Retirement Benefits:

31 December 2009

28 November 2008

US$m US$m
Actuarial (loss) / gain relating to the pension scheme (127 6) 1729
UK deferred tax attributable 1o the actuanal
{(loss) / gan 362 47 9)
Net cumulative amount recogmsed in the statement
of total recognised gains and losses (91.4) 125.0

*The expected contributions for the period to 31 December 2010, included a one off contrnibution of £142mullien

(US$222 lmillion) made to the Plan following the period end

In addition to above, the group also operates a number of defined contnibution plans The total contribution cost
tor the period 15 £187,159 (US$292,265) (52 week period ended 28 November 2008 £302,283 (US$572,100)
There i< no amount 1n respect of this cost that remains payable at the balance sheet date (2008 US$Nil)
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11.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Stock incentive plan

The group’s ulumate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, sponsors a stock incentive plan, The
Goldman Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incenuve Plan (‘the Amended SIP), which provides for grants of
wmcentive stock opuons, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalent rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, awards with performance conditions and other share-based awards

Other compensation arrangements

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc has a discount stock program through which participating managing directors
may be permitted to acquire restricted stock units at an effective 25% discount (for 2009 and 2008 period ends
compensatton, the program was suspended and no individual was permitted to acquire discounted restricted stock
umts thereunder) In prior periods, the 25% discount was effected by an additional grant of restricted stock units
equal to one-third of the number of restricted stock unmits purchased by qualifying participants  The purchased
restricied stock unuts were 100% vested when granted, but the shares underlying them generally were subject to
certain transfer resirictions (which were waived 1in December 2008 except for certain semor executives) The
shares underlying the restncied stock unis that were granted in order to eliect the 25% discount generally vestin
equal instalments on the second and third anniversaries following the grant date upon vesting and were subject to
certain transfer restrictions (transter restrictions on vested awards were waived in December 2008 except for
certain semor executives) Compensaton expense related to these resiricted stock umits s recognised over the
vesting period

Restricted stock units

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc issued restricted stock units to the group’s employees under the Amended SIP,
primarily 1n connection with period-end compensation and acquisitions  Restricted stock units are valued based
on the closing price of the underlying shares at the date ot grant Peniod end restricted stock units generally vest
as outlined in the apphicable restricted stock unit agreements  All employee-restricted stock unit agreements
provide that vesting 1s accelerated 1n certain circumstances, such as upon retirement, death and extended absence
In all cases, delivery of the underlying shares of common stock 1s conditional on the grantees satisfying certain
vesting and other requirements outlined 1n the award agreements The activity related to these restnicted stock
units 15 set forth below

31 December 2009 28 November 2008
No. of RSUs No. of RSUs

No future Future No future Future

service service service service

requirement requirement requirement requirement

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 9,924,544 3,822,556 11,628,421 6,292,241
Granted during the penod 51,560 7.068.872 13,809 550,836
Forteited duning the penod (47,366) {725,666) (65,263) (311,148)
Delivered during the period (7.528,978) - (4,388,441) -
Transferred 1n / (out) during the period 18,257 {124,512) 30,124 (3,479)
Vested dunng the perod 4,312,418 (4,312,418) 2,705,894 (2,705,894)
Outstanding at the end of the period 6,730,435 5,728,832 9,924,544 3,822,556

The weighted average fair value of the equity instruments granted during the 57 week period ended 31 December
2009 was US$75 47 (52 week pertod ended 28 November 2008 USH150 16)

.24 .
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11.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Stock options

Stock options granted to employees generally vest as outlined in the applicable stock option agreement  Options
granted for the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 will become exercisable in one-third annual instalments
trom January 2010 and expire on 31 December 2018 Period end stock options for the 52 week peniod ended 28
November 2008 become exercisable 1n January 2011 and expire on 24 November 2017 All employee stock
aption agreements provide that vesting 1s accelerated 1n certain circumstances, such as upon retirement, death and
extended absence In general, all stock options expire on the tenth anmiversary ot the grant date, although they
may be subject to earlier termination or cancellation under certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of
the Amended SIP and the applicable stock option agreement

The activity related to these stock options 1s set forth below

31 December 2009 28 November 2008
Weighted Weighted
No. of average No. of average
share options  exercise price  share options _ exercise price
Outstanding at the beginming of the penod 5,580,549 104 57 6,354,323 100 32
Granted during the period 9,606,716 78 78 - -
Forteited duning the period (90,422) 78 82 258 96 08
Transferred 1n / (out) during the period (57,794) 7878 16,898 8582
Exercised during the period (1,250,801) 78 57 (790,769) 69 98
Expired duning the penod {1,068) 95 85 (161) 8320
Outstanding at the end of the period 13,787,180 89.24 5,580,549 104 57
Exercisable at the end of the period 3,481,757 90.10 4,444,519 84.16

For those opuons exercised during the period, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was
US$H150 48 (28 November 2008 US$167 08) The weighted average fair value of options granted during the 57
week pertod ended 31 December 2009 was US$14 08 per option (52 week period ended 28 November 2008
US$ml) The weighted average share price at the date of grant was US$78 78 (52 week penod ended 28
November 2008 USSml)

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2009 and 28 November 2008 are set forth below

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

Weighted Weighted

average average

No. of remaining No. of remaining

share options  contractual life  share options  contractual Wfe

Exercise price (US$) outstanding {years) outstanding {years}

$45 00 - $59 99 - - 342,490 050

$7500 - $8999 11,098,980 794 1,963,584 288

$90 00 - 3104 99 1,552,170 201 2,138,445 308

$12000-513499 288,720 592 288,720 700

$195 00 - $209 99 847,310 751 847,310 859
Outstanding at the end of the period 13,787,180 5,580,549

.25 .
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Stock options (continued)
The fair value of options granted during the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 (no opucns were granted
dunng the 52 week period ended 28 November 2008) was estimated as of the grant date based on a Black-Scholes

opuon-pricing model principally using the following weighted average assumptions

31 December

2009
Risk-free interest rate 1 1%
Expected volaulity 50 1%
Dividend yield USS$1 40
Expected hife 4 0 years

The expected volatility assumption 1s determined by management based on 1implied volatility data for histed options
on The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc common stock This information 1s typically not available for the full term of
the options which have been granted Accordingly, management estimates longer-dated volatiliies using a
combination of available market data for these shorter dated listed options and other tmplied volaulity data tor
comparable entities and / or benchmark indices

The common stock underlying the options granted during the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 15 subject
to transfer restrictions unti] January 2014 The value ot the common stock underlying the options granted during
the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 has been discounted by 26 7% to reflect these transfer restrictions

The group recorded total share-based compensation expenses net of fortentures of US$743 mulhon for the 57 weck
pertod ended 31 December 2009 (52 week periad ended 28 November 2008 US$509 mullion) related to the
amortisation ot equity awards The corresponding credit to equity has been transferred to liabilities as a result of
the terms of the intercompany agreements with The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc

.26 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2009

TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

(a) Analysis of tax charge for the period:

The Group

57 week penod 52 week period

ended ended

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

Current tax US$000 US$’000

UK corporation tax at 28% - current period 1,667,547 880,790

UK corporation tax - prior period (43,907) (2,034)

Overseas taxation 67,095 85,343

Total current tax (see note 12(b)) 1,690,735 964,099
Deferred Tax

Provisions and other uming differences (see note 26} (421,159) 931,429

(421,159) 931,429

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 1,269,576 1,895,528

(b) Factors affecting tax charge for the period:

The current tax assessed for the period differs from the standard rate of corporation tax 1n the UK of 28% (28
November 2008 28 67%) The ditferences are explained below

The Group

57 week period 52 week pernod

ended ended

31 December 2009 28 November 2008

US$000 US$’000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 5,368,126 7,271,221
Profit on ordinary activiics muluplied by standard rate

m the UK 28% (28 November 2008 28 67%) 1,503,075 2,084,659

Expenses disallowed for the purposes of tax provision 2,518 7,708

Accelerated capual allowances and other tsiming differences (70,729) (39,355)

Timing differences 1n respect of restricted stock units 531,089 (915,065)

Exchange ditferences 4,765 22,868

Penston contribution reliet 1n excess of net penston

cost charge (2,721 889

Group relief surrendered for mil consideration (72,771 (266,703)

Adjustment to tax 1n respect of prior periods (43,907) (2,040)

Non taxable net (income) / loss (160,572) 71,138

Current tax charge for the period 1,690,735 964,099

The tming difference ansing from the restricted stock unus comprises the net tax effect of the amounts charged
10 the profit and loss account during the period and those amounts paid to employees during the penod

-27 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

COMPANY LOSS FOR THE PERIOD
Of the group’s profit for the period, a loss of US$7 9mullion (2008 profit of US$173 2 million) has been dealt

with 1n the financial statements of the company As permitted by scction 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the
company’s profit and loss account has not been included 1n these financial statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The movements 1n intangible fixed assets during the period were as follows

The Group
Positive Negative

Goodwill Goodwill Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Cost
At 28 November 2008 2,360 (1,524) 836
Additions (see note (1)) 25,087 (22,422) 2,665
At 31 December 2009 27,447 (23,946) 3,501
Amortisation
At 28 November 2008 (1,112) 534 (578)
Charge for period (see note (1)) (3,656) 3,812 156
At 31 December 2009 (4,768) 4,346 (422)
Net book value
At 28 November 2008 1,248 (990) 258
At 31 December 2009 22,679 (19,600) 3,079

(t) Durning the period, positive goodwill of US$25,087,000 arose on the acqusttion of 100% of the ordinary
shares in Beheer — En Beleggingsmaatschappy) Befraco B V. This positive goodwill was capitalised and 1s
being amortised over five years (see note 16(d)(11))

During the peried, negative goodwill of US$22,421.871 arose on the acquisiion of Nutcor International
Limited This negative goodwill 1s expected to be recognised tn the profit and loss account over a period of
three years (sec note 16(d)(1))

_ 78 -
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16.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

The movements in tangible fixed assets during the period were as fellows

The Group
Fixtures
Leasehold fittings & Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total

US$ 000 LUS$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Cost
At 28 November 2008 19,770 10,216 16 30,002
Addinons 187 348 - 535
Disposals (364) (1.949) - 2,313)
Currency translation (149) (19) - (168)
At 31 December 2009 19,444 8,596 16 28,056
Depreciation
At 28 November 2008 12,425 3,809 16 16,250
Charge for peniod 3214 2,077 - 5,291
Disposals (366) (810) - (1,176)
Currency translation (15) 57 - 42
At 31 December 2009 15,258 5,133 16 20,407
Net book value
At 28 November 2008 7,345 6,407 - 13,752
At 31 December 2009 4,186 3,463 - 7,649

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

(a)

Shares in subsidiary undertakings (at cost)

Shares in subsidiary undertakings are unlisted and stated at cost less provision for impairment

The Company

US$°000

At 28 November 2008 6,264,716
Addinons (note (1)) 383,089
Disposals (note (1)) (50,100)
Impairments {note (1)} (87,844)
At 31 December 2009 6,509,861

During the period, the following mavements n shares in subsidiary undertakings ook place

(1) On 31 March 2009, the company was allotted 57,648 ordinary shares of US$t cach issued by Goldman

Sachs Internatonal, for a total consideration of US$1,500,000

On 24 Apnil 2009, GS Leasing Holdings Limited converted | ordinary share of £1 1ssued to the
company to | ordinary share of US$1 In addition, the company was allotted 26,999,999 ordinary
shares of US$1 each issued by GS Leasmng Holdings Limited, for a total consideration of
US%$26,999,999
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

(1}

()

On 15 October 2009, the company exercised 1ts nghts under the terms of a rnights 1ssue agreement
enfered into with GS Capital Funding (Cayman) II Limited during the peniod, 1o subscribe for 100,100
ordinary shares of US$1 each issued by GS Capntal Funding (Cayman) Il Limited, for a total
consideration of US$100,100

On 20 November 2009, the company purchased 20 ordinary shares of US$1 each 1ssued by GS Euro
Management, from GS Fimnancial Services 11, LLC, a fellow group undertaking, for a total cash
purchase price of US$19,997,984 (see note 16(d)(11)}

On 20 November 2009, the company purchased 20 ordinary shares of US$1 each 1ssued by GS Euro
Investments, from GS Financial Services I, LLC, a fellow group undertaking, for a total cash purchase
price of US$19,997,984 (see note 16(d)(11))

On 23 November 2009, the company was allotted 136,133,552 ordinary shares of US$0 00001 each
1ssued by KPL Finance Limited, for a total consideration of US$136,133,552

On | December 2009, the company was allotted 124,391,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each issued by
GS Liquid Trading Plaiform I PCC, for a total consideration of US$124,391,000

During the peniod, the company was allotted a total of 3,308,000 redeemable shares of £1 each by
Money Partners Holding Limited, for a total consideration of £3,308,000 (US$4,843,837)

On 30 June 2009, the company acquired all of the 1ssued share capital of Nufcor Internauonal Limied
from a third party undertaking, for a total purchase price of US$49.124,336 The purchase price
included an imual cash consideration of US$46,968,768 and deferred consideranion of US$2,155,568
(see note 16(d)(1))

On 15 October 2009, the company sold 101,101 ordinary shares of US$1 each issued by GS Capual
Funding (Cayman) II Limited to a third party undertaking, for a total considerauon of US$100,139,650
resulting in a gain on disposal to the company of US$50,039,550 and of US$45,756,000 to the group

A write down ot US$87,844,333 has been made against the cost of sharcs 1n subsidiary undertakings
as the value of the invesiments were less than their book value The directors consider that this
represents a permanent diminution 1n value

- 30 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Shares in subsidiary undertakings {at cost} (continued)

The subsidiaries of the group and the effective ownership interests to the nearest whole percent in the
ordinary and preference shares at the peniod end are hsted below i

Group interest in shares Of which, owned
issued directly by the Company

Name of company and activity
Goldman Sachs Asset Management 100% Ordinary shares 1% Ordinary shares
International * 100% Preference shares 99% Preference shares
(fund manager)
Goldman Sachs Internattonal Bank * 100% Ordinary shares 100% Ordinary shares
{bank loan and related activitics) 100% Preference shares 100% Preference shares
Montague Place Custedy Services (formerly 100% Ordinary shares 1% Ordinary shares i
Goldman Sachs Europe )*
{custodian services)
Goldman Sachs Internauonal * 100% Ordinary shares 1% Ordinary shares
(securines dealer) 100% Preference shares 46% Preterence shares
Goldman Sachs International Finance * 100% Ordinary Shares 0% Ordinary shares
(non-trading}
Goldman Sachs Europe Limited * 100% Ord:nary shares 0% Ordinary shares
(service company)
Fleet Trade & Transport Limited * 100% Ordinary shares 100% Ordinary shares
(o1l and shipping operations)
Goldman Sachs Holdings (U K )* 100% Ordinary shares 100% Ordinary shares
(holding company) 100% Preference shares 100% Preference shares
Goldman Sachs Securities (Nominees) Limited *  100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares
(nominee sharcholder)
Restamove Limited * 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordnary shares
(non-trading)
Dunvegan Investments Limited * 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares
(investment company)
Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limited * 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares

{1ssuer of covered warrants)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Shares in subsidiary undertakings (at cost) (continued)

Of which, owned
directly by the Company

Group interest in shares
Name of company and activity issued

Shire UK Limted *
(investment company)

Shire Funding Limited *
(investment company)

Shire Assets *
(invesiment company)

Shire II Assets Limited *
(investment company)

Goldman Sachs (Monaco) SAM *
(fund manager)

Scadbury UK Limited *
(1nvestment company}

Scadbury Funding Limited *
(1investment company)

Scadbury Assets *
(investment company)

Scadbury II Assets Limited*
(investment company)

Amagansett Financing Limiied *
(1nvestment company)

Killingholme Power Group Limited*
{(investment company)

Killingholme Generation Limited*
(investment company)
Killingholme Holdings Limuted*

(1nvestment company)

GS Kiliingholme Cayman Investments Lid *
{investment company)

GS Killingholme Cayman Investments 11 Ltd *

(investment company)

KPL Holdings Limited**
(investment company)

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

1009% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Preterence shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Redeemable ordinary

shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

1009 Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

0% Preference shares

100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
0% Redcemable
ordinary sharcs
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
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16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Shares in subsidiary undertakings (at cost) (continued)

Name of company and activity

Group interest in shares
issued

Of which, owned
directly by the Company

GS Leasing No | Limited*
(investment company)

GS Leasing No 3 Limited*
(investment company)

GS Leasing*
(leasing partnership)

GS Equipment Finance II Limited*
(investment company)

GS Equipment Finance [ Limited *
(1nvestment company)

GS Leasing Management Limited *
(investmen( company)

Forres LLC*
(investment company)

Forres Investments Limited*
(investment company)

Hechshire*
(investment company)

GS Funding Management Limited*
(investment company)

GS Funding Investments Limited*
(investment company)

GS Liquid Trading Plattorm 1 PCC*
{investment company)

GS Liquid Trading Platform IT Limated*

(investmenl company)

GS Leasing Holdings Limied*
(leasing holding company)

Money Partners Financial Company Limited™®

(investment company)

Money Parincrs Holdings Limited*
(holding company)

100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Partnership interest
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference sharcs
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares
100% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordtnary shares
100% Redeemable shares

0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Partnership interest
0% Ordinary shares
09 Ordinary shares
100% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% QOrdinary shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Ordinary sharcs
0% Ordinary shares

0% Prefcrence shares
0% Ordinary shares
0% Preference shares
100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares
100% Redecmuable
shares
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16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Shares in subsidiary undertakings (at cost) (continued)

Group interest in shares

Of which, owned

Name of company and activity issued directly by the Company
Money Partners Limited* 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares
(mortgage origination company)

Money Partners Finance Limited* 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares
(mortgage financing company)

Money Partners Loans Limited* 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares

(in hquidation)

Residential 1 Limited* 100% Ordinary shares 0% Ordinary shares

(tn hgquidation)

KPL Finance Limited™* 100% Ordinary shares 100% Ordinary shares

(investment company)

KPL Acqusitions Limited*
(investment company)

GS Kilhingholme Cayman Investments I11*
(investment partnership)

GS Euro [nvestments***
(investment company)

GS Euro Management***
{investment company)

Beheer — En Beleggingsmaatschappyy Befraco
B Y okEk
(lease holding company)

Nufcor International Lirmted***
(trading company)

Nufcor Capital Limuted***
{investment advisory services)

Nutcor Mimng and Trading Limuted***
{dormant}

100% Ordinary shares

100% Parinership interest

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

*Subsidiary undertakings cf the group as at 28 November 2008
**Entity incorporated during the period by subscribing for 100% of the entity’s share capital

*** Entity purchased duning the period

0% Ordinary shares

0% Partnership interest

100% Ordmnary shares

100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

100% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares

0% Ordinary shares
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

All the above subsidhary undertakings are registered in England and Wales except for the following

» Goldman Sachs Europe Limsted, Goldman Sachs (Jersey) Limuted, GS Liquid Trading Platform | PCC

and GS Liquid Trading Platform II Limmited are incorporated in Jersey

# Dunvegan Investments Limited, Shire Funding Limited, Shire 11 Assets Limited, Scadbury Funding
Limited, Scadbury II Assets Limued, Amagansett Financing Limuted, GS Killingholme Cayman
Investments Ltd , GS Killingholme Cayman Investments [I Ltd , GS Leasing No 1 Limited, GS Leasing
No 3 Limited, GS Leasing. GS Equipment Finance II Limited, GS Equipment Finance | Limited, GS
Leasing Management Limited, Forres Investments Limted, GS Funding Management Limited, GS
Funding Investments Limited, KPL Finance Linuted, KPL Acquistions Limited, GS Killingholme
Cayman Investments III, KPL Holdings Limited, GS Euro Management and GS Euro Investments are
incorporated 1n the Cayman Islands

* (GS (Monaco) § A M s incorporated 1n Monaco

» Forres LLC 15 incorporated 1n Delaware
* Beheer - En Beleggingsmaatschappy Befraco B V 1s incorporated 1n the Netherlands

(b) Shares in associate investments

The associate of the group and the effective ownership interest in the ordinary shares at the period end 1s

histed below

Name of company
(activity)

Group 1nterest in
shares issued

Of which, owned
directly by the Company

Barne & Hibbert Limited Registered in

Scotiand
(Financial risk consultancy)

Share of net assets / cost

At 28 November 2008

Share of retained loss for the pertod
Translauon adyustment

Impairment

At 31 December 2009

Goodwill

At 28 November 2008
Amortisation charge for the period
At 31 December 2009

Net book value at 28 November 2008
Net book value at 31 December 2009

30 949% Ordmary shares

30 949% Ordinary shares

The Group The Company
US$000 US$’000
1,149 14,607
(1,179) -

30 -

) (14,607)

4,231 -
(4,231} -
5,380 14,607

-135 -
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16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

{c) Other investments other than loans

The balance at 31 December 2009 and 28 November 2008 comprises

The Group The Company
31 December 28 November 31 December 28 November
2009 2008 2009 2008
US$000 US$000 Us$’000 US$000
Shares 1n group undertakings (see 66 67 - -

note (1))

Other equity investments 5,848 8,062 11,656 6,771
Debentures (see note (1)) 18 25 - -
5,932 8,154 11,656 6,771

(1}  Shares 1n group undertakings represent the following

Name of company and activity Yo Number 1n 1ssue Class Nominal

Goldman Sachs Saud: Arabia 05 5,000,000 Ordinary SAR 10
As at 28 November 2008, the company held a 1% nvestment 1n Geldman Sachs Fund Management S A at
a cost of €1,000 On 31 December 2009 Goldman Sachs Fund Management S A was hquidated, as a result,
the company received liquidation proceeds of €1,020

(1) The group holds debentures that are stated at cost and amortised over their useful economic life

US$’000
Cost
At 28 November 2008 and 31 December 2009 78
Amortisation
At 28 November 2008 53
Charge for period — 7
At 31 December 2009 60
Net book value at 28 November 2008 25
Net book value at 31 December 2009 18

The directors consider that the value of other investments other than loans 1s not less than their book value
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16. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
(d) Acquisitions
(1) On 30 June 2009, the company acquired all of the 1ssued share capital of Nufeor International Limited

The following 1able sets out the book values of the consolidated identifiable assets and habilines acquired and
their fair values to the group

Book value to Revaluation Accounting Fair value to

group policy ahgnment group

US$’000 US$000 US$’000 US$’000

Current assets 75,091 25,598 - 100,689

Total assets 75,091 25,598 - 100,689

Current habilities (3,450) 11 (25,804) (29,143)

Net assets 71,641 25,709 (25,804) 71,546

Consideration 49,124

Negative Goodwill 22,422
(n) Other Acquisitions

» On 24 Apnl 2009, the group acquired 100% ot the ordinary shares in Beheer — En

Beleggingsmaatschappyj Befraco B V
¢  On 20 November 2009, the company purchased 20 ordinary shares of US31 each 1ssued by GS Euro

Investments

¢ On 20 November 2009, the company purchased 20 ordinary shares of US$1 each 1ssued by GS Euro

Management

The following table sets out the fawr values to the group of the dentifiable assets and habilities acquired which

are the same as their book values

Fair value to group

Beheer - En GS Euro GS Euro
Beleggingsmaats Management Investments

chappij Befraco

B.V.
US$000 US$’000 US$’000
Current assets 40,132 19,998 19,998
Total assets 40,132 19,998 19,998
Current habihities (38,571) - -
Net assets 561 19,998 19,998
Consideration 25,648 19,998 19,998
Positive Goodwill 25,087 - -
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18.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

QUASI SUBSIDIARIES

The group, n the ordinary course of business, utilises certain vehicles, which though not fulfilling the defimtion
of a subswdiary, give rse to benefits for the group shat are 1n substance no different from those that would anise
were the vehicles treated as subsidiaries As a result, these cntiuies are consolidated

The group recognises quasi subsidiaries based on the inherent nsks The group utilises certain vehicles to provide
investors with asset-repackaged notes designed to meet their objectives These vehicles purchase assets by
1ssuing debt instruments and by entering into dernivative contracts The group has catered into 1nterest rate,
foreign currency and equity denivatives with these vehicles The vehicles produce no materal net cash flows
Cash flows received from assets and denivatives held by the vehicles are paid either directly or indirectly, via debt
securities 1ssued, to the debt holders In addition, given that all denvauves held by the vehicles offset risks
mherent 1n its assets and habihines, the vehicles do not produce any matenial net profit or loss

The combined balance sheet of these quasi-subsidiaries consolidated tnto the group’s financial siatements, 15 as
follows

31 December 28 November

2009 2008
US$000 US$’000
Assets
Debt securities purchased 2,851,676 6,673,197
Liabilities
Debt securiiies 1ssued (2,851,676) (6.673,197)

SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS TO RESELL

Included wathin the resale agreements are amounts of US$12,542 million (28 November 2008 US$11,487
million) which relate to group undertakings
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

DEBTORS
The Group The Company
31 December 28 November 31 December 28 November
2009 2008 2009 2008
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$000
Deposits as collateral for stock borrowed 4,197,253 4,631,167 - -
Amounts due from brokers/dealers
and customers 38 305,998 75,421,217 - -
Amounts due trom parent and group
undertakings 70,054,366 95,400,094 16,190,111} 12,810,526
Group relief recervable from group
undertakings - - 215,585 50,964
Corporaticn tax recoverable 1,041 3,328 - 2,940
Deferred tax (see note 26) 842,851 334,532 - -
Other debtors 377,641 417,614 35 99
Prepayments and accrued income 92,767 102,901 - -

113,871,917 176,310,853 16,405,731 12,864,529

Of the amount due trom parent and group undertakings, US$41 mullion (28 November 2008 US$33mulhon) in
relation to the group and US$5.078 mullion (28 November 2008 US$8,428 million) 1n relation to the company 1s
due 1n more than one year With regard to the group this relates to equity based employee compensation With
regard to the company this relates to long term subordinated loans to a subsidiary undertaking The loan 1s
unsecured, accrues interest at a margin over LIBOR and 1s repayable upon giving or recetving at least two years’
notice to or from the subsidiary undertaking

The net investment in finance leases included within other debtors 18 US$149 7million (28 November 2008
US$133 4mulhion) of which US$103 Smnmllion 1s due 1n more than one year The cost of assets acquired in the

peniod for the purpose of leting under finance leases was US$Nil (28 November 2008 US$Nil)

The remaining debtors are all due within one year of the balance sheet date

CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Inctuded within cash at bank and 1n hand 1s US$12,676 million (28 November 2008 US$16,435 mullion) that 1s
held on behalf of clients 1n segregated accounts

SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE

Included withia the repurchase agreements are amounts of U$$22,060 nulhon {28 November 2008 USS$16,595
mitlien) which relate to group underiakings
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OTHER CREDITORS

Other creditors, all of which are payable within one year of the balance sheet date, comprise

The Group The Company

31 December 28 November 31 December 28 November

2009 2008 2009 2008

US$000 US$’000 US$’ 000 US$’000

Bank loans and overdrafts 56,612 124,803 - -

Debt securities 1ssued 14,396,444 16,289,962 - -

Deposits recerved as collateral for stock loans 18,697,973 26,636,000 - -

Amounts due to brokers/dealers and customers 93,006,040 131,982,845 - -

Amounts due to parent and group undertakings 89,027,546 66,739,361 13,986,350 6,855,971

Corporation tax payable 523,896 229,480 - -

Other taxes and social secunity costs 291,319 107,828 - -
Accrual for management charges payable to

parent and group undertakings (see note 23(b)) 1,854,093 450,268 - -

Other credstors and accruals 1,572,431 1,373,516 7,301 3,126

219,426,354 243,934,063 13,993,651 6,859,097

Ot the other creditors falling due within one year US$56,546 million (28 November 2008 US$59,067 nullion} 1s
secured by marketable securities, of which US$35,729 mullion (28 November 2008 US$32,431 mullion) relates
to amounts due to parent and group undertakings

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

The Group The Company
31 December 28 November 31 December 28 November
2009 2008 2009 2008
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Long-term subordinated loans (see note 24) 5,495,847 9,296,910 5,078,000 8,428,000
Debt securities issued (see note (a)) 5,222,129 1,253,623 - -
Accrual for management charges payable to 809,186 630,035 - -
parent and group undertakings (see note (b))
Loan notes 1ssued (see note (c)} - 1,816,767 - -
11,527,161 12,997,335 5,078,000 8,428,000
{a) The matunty of deb1 securities due after more than cne year 1s as follows
31 December 28 November
2009 2008
US$°000 US$’000
In more than one year but not more than two years - 9,384
In more than two years but not more than five years 2,408,678 280,6%6
In more than five years 2,813,451 963,603
5,222,129 1,253,623

(b) The accrual for management charges in notes 22 and 23 15 1n respect of restricted stock awards and long

term 1ncentive schemes
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Loan notes issued in the prior period, compnsed notes 1ssued to a third party  Interest on the notes accrued
at the relevant underlying interest rate plus 0 90% and was calculated on a monthly basis The notes were
derecognised upon deconsohidation of certain subsidiary undertakings during the period (se¢ note 5)

SUBORDINATED LOANS
The Group The Company
31 December 28 November 31 December 28 November
2009 2008 2009 2008
US$'000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Repayable as tollows

Less than one year 32.000 - - -
Between two and five years 42,000 8,000,000 - 8,000,000
Over five years 5,421,847 1,296,910 5,078,000 428,000
5,495,847 9,296,910 5,078,000 8,428,000

The amounts outstanding represent long-term and short-term subordinated loans from parent undertakings These
loans are unsecured and accrue interest at a margin over LIBOR

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

The Group
US$000

Asat3 l‘ December 2009 and 28 November 2008 40,000

The provision of US$40 mullion was made 1n respect of legal claims made agamst the group Further details
relating o these claims have not been disclosed as permitted by accounting standard FRS 12, ‘Provisions and
Contingent Liabilities’, on the grounds that it would be scriously prejudicial to do so

DEFERRED TAX

31 December 28 November

2009 2008
US3’000 US$’000
Deferred tax balance comprises
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 6,328 8,501
Post-retirement benefits 59,527 (14,488)
Other timing differences 776,996 340,519
842,851 334,532
The movements in the deferred tax balance were as follows
AL 28 November 2008 334,532
Deferred tax assets acquired from acquisition during the period 2,673
Transfer to the profit and loss account for the pertod 421,159
Translation adjustment 360
Transfer to the statement of total recognised gains and losses for the period 84,127
At 31 December 2009 ____M

Other uming differences include deferred 1ax 1n respect of equity-based compensauon
The directors consider that future profits wili be available against which the deferred tax asset can be recovered
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 December 2009 and 28 November 2008, share capital comprised

The Company
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
No. US$’000 No. US$’000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of US3 0 01 each 2,200,000,000 22,000 2,200,000,000 22,000
Preference shares of US$ 001 each 800,000,000 8,000 800,000,000 8,000

30,000 30,000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of US$ 0 01 each 1,785,861,370 17,858 1,785,861,370 17,858
Preference shares of US$ 0 01 each 461,500,000 4,615 461,500,000 4,615

22,473 22,473

The preference shares carry limited voung rights and on a winding-up, the holders have a preferental right to
return ot capital together with any premmum  Preference shares have a fixed non-cumulative dividend payable at
arate of 8 cents per share per annum

SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT AND RESERVES

The Group
Share premium Capital Capital Profit and Merger
account redemption contribution loss account reserve
reserve

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 28 November 2008 1,547,032 305,012 67,187 10,803,579 1,021,395

Profit for the period - - - 4,098,550 -

Other recognised losses - - - {216,325) -

Exchange gain on - - - 8,008 -
<onsohdation

At 31 December 2009 1,547,032 305,012 67,187 14,693,812 1,021,395

The capital redemption reserve arose during a prior period a result of transactions ¢ntered nto by subsidiary
undertakings within the group

The Company

Share premium Capital Profit and Merger

account contribution loss account reserve

US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$’000

A1 28 November 2008 | 547,032 67,187 1205439 1,021,395
L.oss tor the period - - (7,929) -
Al 31 December 2009 1,547,032 67,187 1,197,510 1,021,395

As part of a group reorganisation 1n a prior period, the company took advantage of the relief afforded to 1t under
section 132 of the Companies Act 1985 As a result, share premium of only US$698,381,000 was recorded and
the remaiming difference between the nominal value of the shares and the value at which the new shares were
1ssued of US$1,021,395,000 was credited to a non-distributable merger reserve
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) The group’s financial commtments and contingencies outstanding at the period end primanly anse from
letters of credit and forward foreign exchange, swaps, options, financial futures coniracts, debt and equity
forwards, underwriting commitments entered 1nto 1n the ordinary course of business and regisiered charges
on certain of the group’s assets which have ansen n the ordinary course ot business

(b) In adduion, the group has undrawn lean commuments of US$271,518,000 (28 November 2008
US$83,155,000) These commitments are sub-participated to third party insututions

(c) The group leases certain buildings on long-term leases  Under these leases, which are subject to
renegotiahon at various intervals specified 1n the leases, the group pays all insurance. maintenance and

repairs of these properuies  The rentals that the group 1s commtted to pay in the next year are as follows

31 December 30 November

2009 2008
US$’000 US$’000

Mauurity ot lease
Less than one year - -
Between | and 2 years 2,969 111
Between 2 and 5 years 12,639 13,906
Over 5 years 97,558 92,847
113,166 106,864

(d) The group, in its capacity as an agency lender, indemnifies most of its securies lending customers against
losses incurred 1n the event that borrowers do not return securities The maximum exposure to loss under
guarantec at the pertod end 15 US$318,903,000 The market value of the collateral held to cover the loss was
US$348,507,000 There 1s mimumal performance risk associated with these guarantees
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Normal trading activities expose the group to market, credit, and liquidity risk  These risks, described below, are
managed 1n accordance with establhished nsk management policies and procedures

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, manages market, credit and ltquidity sk on a consistent basis, firmwide
Consequently, the company and 1ts subsidiaries, as part of a global group, adhere to global risk management
policies and procedures

The group seeks to monitor and control nisk exposure through a variety of separate, but complememary, financial,
credit, aperational, comphance and legal reporting systems In addition, a number of global, regional and entity
commiitees are responsible for monnoning nisk exposures and for general oversight of our risk management
process  These commuttees meet regularly and consist of semor members of both our revenue-producing units
and departments that are independent of our revenue-producing units  In addition to the commuittees, functions
that are independent of the revenue-producing umts, such as Compliance, Finance (including Risk Management),
Legal, Internal Audit and Operations, perform global risk management functions, which include monitoring,
analysing and evaluating risk

(a) Market risk

The poitenual for changes 1n the market value of the group’s trading and investing positions 1s referred to as
market risk - Such postiions result from market making, proprietary wading, underwriting and investing activiues
Substanually all of the group’s inventory positions are marked-to-market on a dailly basis and changes are
recorded 1n trading profit

Categortes of market nsk include exposures to interest rates, cquity prices and currency rates A description of
each market risk category 1s set forth below

e Interest rate risks primarily result from exposures to changes 1n the level, slope and curvature of the yield
curve, the volatility of interest rates, mortgage prepayment speeds, funding spreads and credit spreads

. Equity price nisk results from exposures to changes 1n prices and volauhiues of individual equities, equity
baskeis and equity indices

e Currency rate nisks result trom exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and volaulities of
currencies

The group seeks to manage these firmwide nisks through diversifying exposures, controtling position sizes and
establishing economic hedges n related secunities or denivatives  For example, the group may hedge a portfolio
of common stocks by taking an offseting position in a related equity-index futures contract  The ability to
manage an exposure may, however, be limited by adverse changes in the hiquidity of the secunity or the related
hedge 1instrument and in the correlation of price movements between the secunty and related hedge instrument

Firmwide market risk hmns are monitored on a daily basis by the Market risk depariment in the Finance Division
and are reviewed regularly by the appropriate risk commuittee

In addiuon to applying business judgement, senior management uses a number of quanutauve tools 10 manage
our exposure 10 markel nisk for “Trading inventory’, “Trading inventory pledged as collateral’ and “Trading
inventory sold, but not yet purchased’ 1n the consolidated financial statements These tools include

e nsk limts based on a summary measure of market nsk exposure referred to as Value-at-Risk (“VaR")
that are updated and monitored on a daily basis,

* scenario analyses, stress lests and other analyucal tools that measure the potennal effects on our
trading profit of various market events, including, but not Iimied 1o, a large widening of crednt
spreads, a substanual decline 1n equity markets and sigmficant moves 1n sclected emerging markets,
and

s nventory postiion limits tor selected business umits (determined at a firmwide level)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

{a) Market sk (continued)
VaR

VaR 1s the potential loss in value of the group’s trading positions due to adverse market movements over a
defined time horizon with respect 1o a specified confidence level

For the VaR numbers reported below, a one-day time honizon and a 95% confidence level were used This means
that there 1s a 1 1n 20 chance that daily wrading profit will fall below the expected daily trading profit by an
amount at least as large as the reported VaR Thus, shorttalls from expected trading profit on a single trading day
greater than the reported VaR would be anticipated 1o occur, on average, about once a month Shortfalls on a
single day can exceed rcported VaR by sigmficant amounts Shertfalls can also occur more frequently or
accumulate over a longer time horizon such as a number of consecutive trading days

The modelling of the nisk charactenstics of the group’s trading positions involves a number of assumptions and
approximations while the group believes that these assumptions and approximations are reasonable, there ts no
standard methodology for estimaning VaR, and different assumptions and/or approximations could produce
matenally different VaR estimaies

The group uses historical data to estimate VaR and, to better reflect current asset volatilines, 1t generally weights
histortcal data to give greater importance to more recent observations Given its reliance on historical data, VaR
15 most effective 1n estimating risk exposures in markets in which there are no sudden fundamentai changes or
shifts in market conditions  An inherent hmitation of VaR 1s that the distribution ot past changes in market risk
factors may not produce accurate predictions of future market msk  Dhfferent VaR methodologies and
distributional assumptions could produce a matenally different VaR  Morcover, VaR calculated ifor a one-day
time horizon does not tully capture the market risk of positions that cannot be hquidated or otfset with hedges
within one day

The foliowing table sets forth the year end and daily VaR
2009 US$m 2008 US$m
Total VaR at 31 December 2009 and 28 November 2008 569 1192

Average daily VaR for the 57 week period ended 31 December 2009 and 97 6 104 7
52 week period ended 28 November 2008

Other Market Risk Measures

Certain portfolios and (ndividual posttions are not included in VaR, where VaR 1s not the most appropriate
measure of risk (¢ g, due to transfer restrictions and/or illiquidity) Market nisk related 1o these positions 1s
measurcd by esttmating the potential reduction 1n trading profit asseciated with a 10% decline in assel values

The sensitivity analyses tor equity and debt positions (n the group’s trading portfoho are measured by the umpact
of a decline 1n the asset values of such posiuons  The tair value ot the underlying positions may be impacted by
recent thud party investments or pending transacthions, third party independent appraisals, transactions 1n similar
mstruments, valuation multiples and public comparables, and changes in financial ratios or cash flows

The following table scts forth market risk for positions not included 1n VaR
Sensitivity Analysis — Material Areas not in VaR 2009 US$m 2008 US$m

Trading Risk Equity (10% sensitivity measure on carrying value) as at 31 292 536
December 2009 and 28 November 2008
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk {continued)

In addition, the group’s VaR excludes certain funding llabhhties  As at 31 December 2009, the carrying value of
these liabihues was approximately USS$5 5 bilhon (28 November 2008 US$9 21 bilhion) If interest rates had
been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other vanables were held constant, the impact on these funding
hiabilities would be to increase / decrease the group’s net profit by US$45 6 million (28 November 2008
US3$48 5 mullion) manly autributable to exposure Lo interest rates on the group’s vanable rate borrowings

(b) Credit Risk

Credut nisk represents the loss that the group would incur 1f a counterparty or an issuer of securities or other
istruments that 1t holds, tails to perform under its contractual obhgauons, or upon a deterioration in the credit
quality of third parties whose securities or other mnstruments, including OTC derivatives, the group holds The
group’s exposure to credit risk principally anises through its trading, investing and financing activities To reduce
its credit exposures, the group seeks to enter inte netting agreements with counterparties that permut 1t to otfset
recervables and payables with such counterpartues In addition, the group attempts to further reduce credit nisk
with certain counterparties by (1) entering nto agreements that enable 1t to obtain collateral from a counterparty
on an upfront or contingent basis, (1) seeking third-party guarantees of the counterparty’s obligations, and/or (111)
transferring 1ts credit nsk to third paruies using credit derivatives and/or other structures and techniques

To measure and manage the group’s credit exposures, 1t uses a variety of tools, including credit limuts referenced
to both current exposure and polential exposure  Potential exposure 1s an estimaite of exposure, within a specified
confidence level, that could be outstanding over the hife of a transaction based on market movements

In addition, as part of the group’s market risk management process, for posinons measured by changes 1n credit
spreads, it uses VaR and other sensitivity measures To supplement the group’s primary credit exposure
measures, 1t also use scenarto analyses, such as credil spread widening scenarios, stress tests and other
quanttative tools

The group’s global credit management systems momitor credit exposure to individual counterparties and on an
aggregate basis to counterparties and thewr affiliates These systems also provide management, including the
Firmwide Risk and Credit Policy Commuttees, with information regarding overall credit nsk by product, industry
sector, country and region

While the group’s acuvities expose 1t to many different industries and counlerparties, it routinely executes a high
volume of transacttons with counterparties 1n the financial services industry, including brokers and dealers,
commercial banks, clearing houses, exchanges and investment funds This has resulted n sigmficant credit
concentration with respect to this indusiry In the ordinary course of business, the group may also be subject to a
concentration of credit nsk to a particular counterparty, borrower or 1ssuer, including sovereign 1ssuers or o a
particular clearing house or exchange

Derivatives

Denvative contracts are instruments, such as futures, forwards, swaps or option contracts that derive their value
from underlying assets, indices, reference rates or a combination of these factors Dernvative instruments may be
privately negotiated contracts, which are often reterred to as OTC derivatives, or they may be listed and traded on
an ¢xchange

Substantially all of the group’s derivative transactions are entered into to facilitate chent transacuons, to take
proprictary positions or as a means of risk management In addition 10 derivative transactions entered nto for
trading purposes, the group enters mnto derivative contracts t¢ manage the interest ratie and currency exposure on
its long-term borrowings and certain short-term borrowings

Dertvauves are used in many of the group’s businesses, and 1t believes that the associated market risk can only be
understood relative to all of the underlying assets or risks being hedged, or as part of a broader trading strategy
Accordingly, the market risk of derivative positions 1s managed together with ats non-derivative positions
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

The fair value of the group’s denvative contracts are reported on a gross-by-counterparty basis 1n the group’s
consolidated financial statements unless 1t has a current legal rnight of set off and also intends to settle on a net
basis For an OTC derivauve, the group’s credit exposure 1s directly with 1ts counterparty and continues until the
maturity or termination of such contract

Denvative transactions may also involve legal nisks including the risk that they are not authorised or appropriate
for a counterparty, that documentation has not been properly executed or that executed agreements may not be
enforceable against the counterparty The group attempts to minimise these nsks by obtaining advice of counsel
on the enforceability of agreements as well as on the authority of a counterparty to effect the derivative
transaction In addiuon, certain derivanve transactions (e g , credit derivative contracts) involve the risk that the
group may have difficulty obtatming, or be unable to obtain, the underlying security or obligation 1n order 1o
satisfy any physicat settlement requirement

The following tables disclose the carrying values of financial assets recorded in the consolidated financial
statements and represent the group’s maximum exposure to credit nsk without taking account of the value of
collateral obtained or any other credit enhancements (for example derivative master netting agreements)

Gross credit exposure Gross credit exposure
Exposure to credit risk by class 31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$m US$m
Trading Inventory 500,576 1,084,283
Trading Inventory pledged as collateral 18,548 7,513
Securities Purchased under agreements to resell 113,687 94,080
Debtors (excluding deterred tax ot US$843m (28 113,029 175,976
November 2008 1JS$335m))
Cash at bank and 1n hand 13,857 18,437
759,697 1,380,289
Credit Rating Carrying value Carrying value
31 December 2009 28 November 2008
US$m US$m
AAA 15,050 21,579
AA 120,725 825,103
A 478,762 260,014
BBB 38,102 83,074
BB 11,485 66,591
B 15,183 19,512
CCC 7,577 6,231
Unrated 72,813 68,185
Total 759,697 1,380,289
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

The table above groups exposure based on nternal ratings assigned by the Credit department  Positions 1n cash
iveniory (e g equities, bonds) are captured as market risk in the firm's risk management process and are not
assigned internal ratings These positions constitute the majority of the exposures classihied as unrated

As of current and prior period end, financial assets past due or impaired were 1nsignificant
Collateralised Transactions

The group and 1ts subsidiaries receive financial nstruments as collateral, primarily 1o connection with resale
agreements, securities borrowed, denvative transactions and customer margin loans  Such financial 1nstruments
may tnclude oblhigations of the US Government, federal agencies, sovereigns and corporations as well as
equities and convertibles

In many cases, the group and 1ts subsidharies are permutted to dehiver or repledge these financial instruments n
connection with entering into repurchase financings, collateralising dernivative transactions and mecting firm or
customer settlement requirements  As of 31 December 2009, the fair value of financial instruments received as
collateral by the group and 1ts subsidiaries that they were permitted to deliver or repledge was US$255 8 billion
(28 November 2008 US$255 2 bilhon), of which the group and 1its subsidianies delivered or repledged US$210 8
billion (28 November 2008 US$221 0 billion}

The group and 1ts subsidiaries alse pledge assets that they own to counterpartics who may or may not have the
right to deliver or repledge  Financial instruments owned and pledged to counterparties that have the right to
deliver or repledge are included within “Trading inventory pledged as collateral’ 1n the consohdated financial
statements and were US$18 3 bithion as of 31 December 2009 (28 November 2008 US$7 5 bithon) Financial
mstruments owned and pledged in connection with repurchase agreements, securities lending agreements and
other secured financings to counterparties that did not have the nght to sell or repledge are inciuded 1n ‘Trading
inventory’ 1n the consolidated financial statements and were US$22 5 billion as of 31 December 2009 (28
November 2008 US$15 3 billion)

In addition to repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements, the firm obtains secured funding through
the use of other arrangements Other secured financings include arrangements that are non-recourse, that is, only
the subsichary that executed the arrangement or a subsidiary guaranteeing the arrangement 1s obligated 1o repay
the financing Other secured financings consist of liabiiities related to consolidated special purpose entities,
collateralised central bank financings, transters ot financial assets that are accounted for as financings rather than
sales and other structured financing arrangements

(¢) Liqudity Risk

Liqudity 15 of critical importance to compames an the financial services sector  Most failures of financial
institutions have occurred 1n large part due to nsufficient higuidity Accordingly, the group has in place a
comprehensive st ot hiquidity and funding poltcies that are intended to maintain significant flexability to address
both firmwide-specific and broader industry or market hiquidity events  The group’s principal objective 1s to be
able to fund uself and 10 enable 11s core businesses (o continue 10 generate revenues, even under adverse
circumstances

The group has implemented a number of policies according to the following hquidity rmisk management
framework

*  Excess Liquidity — the group mamntains substantial excess hquidity to meet a broad range ol potental cash
outflows 1n a stressed environment including financing obligations The amount of excess hiquidity 1s based
on an (nternal liquidity model together with a qualitative assessment of the condition ot the financial markets
and the group
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Liguidity Risk (continued)

o  Asset-Liability Management - the group’s strategy includes an assessment of the overall charactenstics of its
assets with respect io therr anuicipated holding periods and potenual 1lliquidity 1n a stressed environment In
addition, the group manages the matunites and diversity of 1s secured and unsecured funding habihues
across markets, products and counterparties, and it seeks to maiwntain habilities ot appropmnate term relanive to

1ts asset base

¢ Contingency Funding Plan (‘CFP’) — a firmwide CFP 1s mamtained to help idenufy, measure, monutor and
mutigate liquidiy and funding risk The CFP considers various risk factors that could occur during a crisis
and provides a tramework for analysing and responding to a hquidity crisis

The tollowing table details the group’s undiscounted cash flows of its financial habihties by contractual matunity
including interest that will accrue except where the group is entitled to repay the hability before 1ts matunity
Derivative contracts included wiathin trading inventory sold, but not yet purchased are presented at thear fair value
and disclosed as ‘on demand’ The group considers this more accurately represents the hiquidity nsk ansing from

derivatives and 1s consistent with how those risks are managed

Liabilities:

Trading mmventory
sold but not yet
purchased

Securities sold
under agreements
o repurchase

Other creditors

Creditors
due  after
than one year

talling
more

31 December 2009

On Less than More More More Greater Total
Demand one than one than than one than five
month month three year but years
but less months less than
than but less five years
three than one
months year
US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
446,078 - - - - - 446,078
257 48,842 8,301 7,705 566 - 65,671
188,983 22,793 6,096 1,557 | - 219,430
- - 12 20 3,269 8,235 11,536
635,318 71,635 14,409 9,282 3,836 8,235 742,715
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity Risk (continued)

28 November 2008
On Less than More More More Greater Total
Demand  one than one than than one than five
month month three year but years
but less months less than
than but less five years
three than one
months year
Liabilities: US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m US$m
Trading Inventory
sold but not yet 1.044.937 i i i } 1,044,937
purchased
Securities sold
under agreements - 40473 10,783 13,774 75 - 65,105
to repurchase
Other Creditors 242,579 795 347 319 - - 244,040
Creditors  falling
due - after more - . . - 8,895 5,152 14,047
than one year
1,287,516 41,268 11,130 14,0693 8,970 5,152 1,368,129

(d) Financial instruments valued using techmques that incorporate unobservable inputs

Fair value of financial instruments may be determined 1n whole or part using a valuation technique based on
assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable current market transactions 1n the same 1nstrument
or based on available observable market data

Changes 1n fair value of financial instruments, resulung 1n reahised and unreahised gamns or losses, are recogmsed
in net trading profit  The total amount of the change n fair value of financial 1instruments held by the group and
estimated using a valuatton techmque that includes significant unobservable market inputs, 15 a net gain of
US$289 muthon for the perod ended 31 December 2009 (28 November 2008 US$1,407 milhon) This gan
principally resulted from changes in observable inputs, as opposed to unobservable inputs Financial instruments
that are valued using techniques that incorporate unobservable tnputs (‘unobservable financial instruments’) are
frequently hedged with financial instruments whose valuauon incorporates only observable 1nputs {‘observable
financial 1nstruments’), and accordingly gains or losses that have been reported on unobservable financial
instruments may be offset by gains or losses atinbuted to observable financial instrumentis

As the fair value of unobservable financial instruments may involve 1n whole or part valuation techmques which
are based upon assumprions, changing these assumpnons will change the resultant esimate of farr value The
potential impact as at 31 December 2009 of using reasonably possible alternative assumptions for the valuation
techmques including sigmficant unobservable inputs has been quantfied as approximately US$900 million which
could be erther positive or negative (28 November 2008 US$950 million) En determining reasonably possible
alternative assumptions, a bid offer spread methodology has been applied  The bid offer spread 15 viewed as
being a proxy of uncertainty when pricing a financial instrument Management esimation has been uvsed to
determine an appropniate bid offer spread In arnving at the total impact above, the range s based on all inputs
moving 1o either their best or worst reasonably possible case at the same ume, and therefore no correlation
assumptions between or within risk types are made This 1s viewed as a conservative assumption when assuming
the uncertainty of the entity
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{(d) Financial instruments valued using techniques that incorporate unobservable inputs (continued)

The amounts not recogmsed 1n the consolidated income statement relating 1o the difference between the fair value
at emtial recognttion (the transaction price) and the amounts deternined at init:al recognition using the valuation
techniques are as follows

US$m
At 29 November 2008 238 I
New transactions 42 |
Amounts recognised 1n the consolidaled income statement during the period (131) i
At 31 December 2009 149 |

(e) Fair value of financial instruments

For financial assets and habihiies not measured at fair value, the carrying amounts 1n the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value given the short term nature of these instruments, with the exception of the
below

31 December 2009 28 November 2008
Carrying  Approximate Carrying Approximate
value fair value value fair value
US$m US$m US$m US$m
Subordinated loans (see note 24) 5,496 5,226 9,297 8,436
Loan notes 1ssued (see note 23) - - 1,817 1,612

The subordinated loans are primanly repayable on either 2 or 5 years’ notice to or from the holder Consequently,
the fair value of long term subordinated debt has been determined on the assumption that all loans are repaid on
therr earliest potential repayment date, although repayment 1s subject to FSA approval

(f) Regulatory capital requirements

The company 1s the holding company to a UK regulated group which 1s regulated by UK Financial Scrvices
Authority (FSA) and as such 1s subject to mimmum capital adequacy standards In implementing the Capital
Requirements Directive (CRD) the FSA requuires each bank and banking group to maintain an individually
prescribed rato of capital 10 risk weighted assets The group montors and demonstrated comphance with the
relevant regulatory capital requirements of the FSA at all times during the period

The level and composition of the group’s capital 1s principally determined by 1ts regulatory capital requirements,
but may also be influenced by the business environment, conditions 1n the financial markets and assessments of
potential future losses due to extreme and adverse changes in the group’s business and market environment

The group’s capital 1s divided into three tiers

As at 31 December 2009 .

® Tier | capital - US$17 7 bilhon (28 November 2008 US$13 & billion) - comprises permanent share capital, I
profit and less account and reserves, share premium account, perpetual non-cumulative preference shares

® Tier 2 capital - US$5 5 billion (28 November 2008 US$1 3 billion) - solely comprises long term subordinated i
debt .
® Tier 3 capital - US$74 mullion (28 November 2008 US$8 0 billion) — comprises short term subordinated debt

In additon various regulatory limits and deducuions are apphed
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33.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2009

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Under the terms of paragraph 3(c) of FRS 8, ‘Related Party Disclosures’, the group is exempt frem disclosing
ransactions with companies wholly owned within the same group, as the consclidated financial statements 1n
which the group 15 included are publicly available There were no other matenal related party transactions
requunng disclosure

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

()

(n)

Following the period end, the UK Government introduced, through the Finance B1ll 2010, a one-off tax 1n
respect of certain bonuses payable by banks and banking groups At the balance sheet date, there were
uncertainties as to the implementation and scope of the initial proposals and it was not possible to conclude
that the tax was virtually certain to be enacted as imually drafted The bank payroll tax will be recogmised n

the profit and loss account 1n the year ended 31 December 2010 and the group’s current provision 1s
US$600 mutlion

Following the period end, Goldman Sachs International, a subsidiary undertaking, agreed to pay a financial
penalty of £17 5 mullion (US$26 9 million) to the Financial Services Authority (FSA) 1n resolving an
investigation carried out by the FSA which commenced on 20 April 2010 The penalty will be recogmsed in
the profit and loss account of the group in the year ended 31 December 2010

ULTIMATE AND IMMEDIATE PARENT UNDERTAKINGS

The immediate parent undertaking 1s Goldman Sachs (UK) L I, C, a company registered 1n Delaware

The vltimate parent undertaking and the parent company of the largest group for which consolhdated financial
staternents are prepared 1s The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, a company incorporated n the United States of
America Copies of us accounts can be obtained trom 200 West Street, New York, NY 10282, United States of
America, the group’s principal place of business
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